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Cesar Huerta Cantu, a federal inmate proceeding with cotmsel, filed a pro se motion to

vacate, set aside, or correct sentence, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. j 2255. The United States tlled a

motion to dismiss, and petitioner responded, making the matter ripe for disposition. After

reviewing the record, 1 grant the United States' motion to dismiss and dismiss the j 2255 motion

as utltim ely filed.

1.

After petitioner pleaded guilty to one count of money laundering, in violation of 18

U.S.C. j 1956(h), and one count of conspiring to possess 1,000 kilograms or more of marijuana

and 5 kilogrnms or more of cocaine with intent to distribute, in violation of 21 U.S.C. j 846, 1

ordered the probation office of this court to prepare a presentence investigation report ($TSR'').

The PSR was subsequently fonvarded to the United States and to petitioner's counsel, who did

not note any objections. The PSR attributed 3,000 to 10,000 kilogrnms of marijuana to

petitioner's criminal activity.

At the onset of the sentencing hearing on M ay 1 1, 2006, l asked counsel if he had any last

minute corrections or additions, and cotmsel replied that he did not. Hearing no objections from

counsel or the United States, 1 adopted the PSR as it was written. Unfortunately, the PSR

contained a critical typo.Paragraph 56 correctly described the Base Offense Level as 34,

pursuant to United States Sentencing Guideline (SCUSSG'') j 2D1. 1(c) and j 2S 1. 1(a)(l), but the



number typed in the calculations column read 36. After calculating various adjustments, the PSR

recommended an erroneous Total Offense Level of 37 instead of 35. The erroneous Total

Offense Level, when combined with petitioner's Criminal Histoly Category of 1, resulted in an

erroneous guideline sentencing range of 210 to 262 months. After hearing petitioner's testimony

and argument by the parties, l addressed petitioner:

gYlotzr lack of a criminal record, of course, is a big plus in your favor. And
certainly, your fnmily has stood behind you four square. You couldn't ask for any
more support than they've given you. And it's unfortunate, M r. Cantu, that a family
has to suffer for the misdeeds of one of its members. . . . As 1 say, you did not have
a criminal record, but when you fell, you certainly fell big. And the quantity of
drugs involved are just nmazing to say the least. 1 can't in good conscious say that
there's any factor in your case that would permit a . . . variance from the
guidelines . . ., and the statutory requirements are that the court consider the policies
behind the guidelines. And l think that a11 of the factors are well addressed in the
(PSR). 1'11 do as much for you as 1 can, that is to sentence you at the very bottom of
the guidelines.

(Sentencing Tr. 19.) l then sentenced petitioner to a 210 month term of incarceration, the lowest

sentence in the erroneous guideline range. However, petitioner's correct sentencing guideline

1 I ntered petitioner's criminal judgment on May 22, 2006, andrange was 168 to 210 months. e

2petitioner did not appeal.

The court received petitioner's unsigned, self-styled j 2255 motion on July 6, 2012,

alleging that he discovered the error on M ay 17, 2012, when he received his fnmily's copy of the

PSR. The court conditionally filed the unsigned motion, advised him of the deficiency,

requested a signed motion, and sent him a form j 2255 motion. Petitioner executed and filed the

1 Petitioner faced a statutory sentencing range of 10 years' to life incarceration
, pursuant to 21 U.S.C.

j 841(b)(l)(A), regardless of the guideline calculation error.
2 O January 16 2009 l granted the United Sltes' motion to reduce the sentence due to substantial assistance,n , ,

pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 35(b)(2), and entered an Amended Judgment on January 23, 2009. The Amended
Judgment sentenced petitioner to, inter alia, 180 months' incarceration. This amended judgment does not affect
calculations of the limitations period under 28 U.S.C. j 225540. See 18 U.S.C. j 3582(b) (stating an original
criminal judgment is the çtfinal judgment'' notwithstanding an amended judgment for a sentence reduction pursuant
to Fed. R. Crim. P. 35)) United States v. Sanders, 247 F.3d 139, 143-44 (4th Cir. 2001) (recognizing a Fed. R. Crim.
P. 35(b) resentencing did not affect the date of finality for the original criminaljudgment for purposes of 28 U.S.C.
j 2255(9(1:.



form motion, arguing that cotmsel rendered ineffective assistance by not noticing and correcting

the enor. Petitioner explains that counsel did not review the PSR ûtat length'' with petitioner

before the sentencing hearing, and he argues that his extraordinary rehabilitation in prison

warrants a downward departure if he is resentenced.

I1.

Courts and the public can presume that a defendant stands fairly and finally convicted

after conviction and exhaustion, or waiver, of any right to appeal. United States v. Frady, 456

U.S. 152, 164 (1982). Nonetheless, federal convicts in custody may attack the validity of their

federal sentences by filing motions to vacate, set aside, or correct sentence, pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

j 2255, within the one-year statute of limitations. This limitations period begins to nm from the

latest of: (1) the date on which the judgment of conviction becomes final; (2) the date on which

the impediment to making a motion created by governmental action in violation of the

Constitution or laws of the United States is removed, if the movant was prevented f'rom maldng a

motion by such governmental action; (3) the date on which the right asserted was initially

recognized by the Supreme Court, if that right has been newly recognized by the Supreme Court

and made retroactively applicable to cases on collateral review; or (4) the date on which the facts

supporting the claim or claims presented could have been discovered through the exercise of due

diligence. 28 U.S.C. j 2255(9.

Petitioner's criminaljudgment became final on June 5, 2006, when the time to appeal the

original criminaljudgment expired. See Fed. R. App. P. 4(b)(1)(A)(i) (2006) (permitting an

appeal to be filed within 10 days of judgment); Fed. R. App. P. 26(a)(2) (2006) (excluding

intermediate Saturdays, Stmdays, and legal holidays from time calculations of less than eleven

daysl; United States v. Clay, 537 U.S. 522, 524 (2003) (stating a conviction becomes final once



the availability of direct review is exhausted). Accordingly, for purposes of j 2255(941),

petitioner had until Jtme 5, 2007, to timely tile a j 2255 motion, but he did not file the motion

until M ay 17, 20 12, at the earliest.S

Petitioner argues that his j 2255 motion should be considered timely tèled under

j 2255(9(4) because he filed it within one year of when he noticed the error. Petitioner asked

his fnmily to mail him his PSR because he leamed that fellow prisoners were able to obtain their

PSRS thzough the prison-mail system, despite a prison l'ule that prohibits inmates from

possessing PSRS. Petitioner alleges that he quickly fled the self-styled j 2255 motion once he

received the PSR on M ay 17, 2012, and saw the error.

Section 2255(9(4) permits the limitations period to begin on the date on which the facts

supporting the claim or claims presented could have been discovered through the exercise of due

diligence. See Aniulo-lacmez v. United States, 541 F.3d 814, 818 (8th Cir. 2008) (recognizing

due diligence requires at least that a prisoner make reasonable efforts to discover the facts

supporting the claim).

to try to review the PSR drafted in 2006.

1 fqnd that petitioner did not exercise due diligence by waiting tmtil 2012

Petitioner could have asked to see the PSR as early as the day of the sentencing hearing,

4which if he had exercised due diligence
, was as simple as asking counsel to show him the PSR.

3 Petitioner's amended motion clearly relates back to the timing of the self-styled motion because it asserts claims
that were attempted to be set out in the original pleading. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(1)(B) (permitting an amendment
to relate back if, inter alia, the amendment asserts a claim or defense that arose out of the conduct, transaction, or
occurrence set out - or attempted to be set out - in the original pleading). However, there is nothing in the record to
establish when petitioner handed the self-styled motion to prison oftkials for mailing to benefit from the prison-
mailbox l'ule. See Rule 3(d), Rules Governing j 2255 Proceedings (discussing the prison-mailbox rulel. Based on
petitioner's allegations, however, 1 mssume for purposes of this Opinion that petitioner filed the motion no earlier
than May 17, 2012, which is the date he alleges he received his family's copy of the PSR and noticed the error.

4 The statement in the amended motion, tçNfy attorney never spent the time to go over my PSIIR with me at length
that would have been necessary to find the error . . .,'' does not clearly state whether counsel clzrsorily reviewed the
PSR with petitioner or not at all. Accordingly, 1 resolve the ambiguity in petitioner's favor with the conclusion
counsel did not review the PSR with petitioner.
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Petitioner does not explain why he would not have been able to see the PSR before the

sentencing hearing. Even if petitioner could not get the PSR from cotmsel, he could have still

seen the PSR in prison long before 2012. Petitioner is correct that Bureau of Prisons (t%OP'')

5 S BOP Progrnm Statement 1351.05policy prohibits inmates from possessing their PSRS. ee

CcRelease of lnformation'') at 15 (noting a PSR obtained through prison mail is contraband),

available at - .bop.gov/policy/progstavl3sl 005.pdf (last accessed Mar. 12, 2013). See also

ln Re Katrina Canal Breaches Consol. Litig., 533 F. Supp. 2d 615, 631-33 & M .14-15 (E.D. La.

2008) (collecting cases indicating that federal courts may take judicial notice of governmental

websites, including court records); Willinms v. LonR, 585 F. Supp. 2d 679, 686-88 & n.4 (D.

Md. 2008) (collecting cases indicating that postings on government websites are inherently

authentic or self-authenticating). However, the BOP has allowed inmates to review their PSRS in

BOP facilities since 2002. Release of lnformation at 15. The Release of lnfonnation policy

explicitly states:

Although prohibited from obtaining or possessing photocopies, federal inmates
are entitled . . . to access their own PSRS. . . . lnmates must be provided
reasonable opporttmities to access and review their PSRS. . . . Inmates are
responsible for requesting an opportunity to access and review these records with

tmit staff in accordance with the (applicable policy).

Lp=. at 16. A PSR prepared on or after Dscember 1, 1975, is placed in the disclosable portion of

the lnmate Central File. ld. ttA.n inmate may at any time request to review a1l disclosable

portions of his or her lnmate Central File by submitting a request to a staff member designated

by the Warden.'' 28 C.F.R. j 513.40(a). Thus, petitioner could still have discovered the error in

the PSR once he arrived at a BOP facility by reviewing his central file, and petitioner does not

explain any investigation he undertook to read his PSR despite the BOP's pre-existing policy.

5 The policy does not apply to inmates in BOP facilities that have a need to review the PSR before sentencing. 1d. lt
is not clear from the record whether petitioner was a housed at a BOP facility before sentencing.



Petitioner fails to establish why he could not have exercised due diligence or could have

diseovered the enor prior to M ay 17, 201 1, to make the instant motion timely filed. It is clear

that petitioner could have exercised due diligence more than a year before M ay 17, 2011, by

seeing his PSR before being sentenced in 2006 or during his incarceration at a BOP facility.

Petitioner wholly fails to explain why he never asked a family member to review the PSR for

such a typographical error or why he waited years before attempting to obtain a copy of the PSR

from his fnmily. Furthermore, petitioner did not need a copy of the PSR to discover the

calculation error as he could have discovered the error by comparing the USSG against the

enoneous sentencing calculations reflected in the record. Consequently, petitioner fails to 111111

his burden that he filed the instant motion within the one-yer limitations period under

j 2255(:(4).6 see Ramos-Martilwz v. United States, 638 F.3d 315, 325 (1st Cir. 201 1) ($tA

habeas petitioner has the burden of adducing facts sufticient to show both that his petition should

be treated as timely and that he is entitled to relief'). See also Jolmson v. United States, 544

U.S. 295, 31 1 (2005) (refusing to apply j 225549(4) where téthere is every reason to believe that

prompt action would have produced (the facts on which the claim for relief is based) well over a

year before (the petitioner) filed his j 2255 petition.').

Equitable tolling is available only in ttthose rare instances where - due to circumstances

external to the party's own conduct - it would be unconscionable to enforce the limitation period

against the party and gross injustice would result.'' Rouse v. Lee, 339 F.3d 238, 246 (4th Cir.

2003) (en banc) (internal quotation marks omitted) (citing Hanis v. Hutchinson, 209 F.3d 325,

330 (4th Cir. 2000:. Thus, a petitioner must have Clbeen pursuing his rights diligently, and . . .

6 Petitioner does not argue timeliness under j 225549(2) or (943).
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some extraordinary circumstance stood in his way'' to prevent timely sling. H olland v. Florida,

U.S. , 130 S. Ct. 2549, 2560 (2010).

As already discussed, petitioner fails to establish that he diligently pursued his rights, and

l do not tind any extraordinary circtlmstance in the record that prevented petitioner from filing a

timely j 2255 motion. See. e.g., U-n-ite-d States v. Sosas 364 F.3d 507, 512 (4th Cir. 2004) (noting

pro se status and ignorance of the law does not justify equitable tolling); Tumer v. Johnson, 177

F.3d 390, 392 (5th Cir. 1999) (noting unfamiliarity with the law due to illiteracy or pro se status

does not toll limitations period). While l am sympathetic to petitioner's position, l nm not

permitted to disregard the law, and petitioner did not satisfy his burden that he filed his j 2255

motion within the one-year statute of limitations, petitioner is not entitled to equitable tolling,

and the petition must be dismissed.

111.

For the foregoing reasons, 1 grant the United States' motion to dismiss and dismiss

petitioner's 28 U.S.C. j 2255 motion as tmtimely filed. Based upon my fnding that petitioner

has not made the requisite substantial showing of denial of a constitutional right as required by

28 U.S.C. j 2253/), a certificate of appealability is denied.

The Clerk is directed to send copies of this M emorandtzm Opinion and the accompanying

Order to the parties.

$ LpGday of March, 2013.ENTER: This
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Se ior nited States District Judge
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